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Located in Saluda, North Carolina, the Church of th,e Transfiguration is an excellent 
example of the "Carpenter Gothic" style." The church is sited on a hill overlooking 
the business section of Saluda, a small resort town in mountainous Polk County_ The 
white frame church stands at the corner of Henderson and Charles streets, winding lanes 
lined with summer cottages. The structure rests on a broad sloping lawn covered with 
ivy and shaded by tall trees. Large boxwoods stand to either side of its main entrance. 

Built in 1889, the Church of the Transfiguration is an example of Carpenter Gothic 
architecture, a style popular in the United States in the mid to late nineteenth century 
in which Gothic motifs were executed in wood. 

The original rectangular block of the temple-form structure remains intact with a square 
bell tower affixed to its northwest corner. A small rectangular vestry and side porch 
were added on the north side of the building in 1968. 

Like most Carpenter Gothic structures, the church is covered with vertical board and 
batten siding. The structure has a steeply pitched gable roof with a flared projecting 
eave. A simple bargeboard with sawtooth shingle mold embellishes each gable eave. 

The church sant~ary is lighted by stained glass set in pointed arch windows. Most of the" 
windows were donated to the church as m~morials. Narrow cames separate the small panes 
of stained glass. The geometric shapes of the glass form a narrow vertical pointed 
pattern. The center of each window features a circular pane of glass inset with a small 
scene or religious symbol. The delicate tracery and sparkling colors of the windows lend 
an elegance to both the exterior and the interior of the church. 

Originally, the church stood on stone piers. Recently, a cement block foundation has 
been fil~d in to better support and insulate the structure. 

The main entrance to the church is centered on the west gable end. Wide stone steps 
with low flanking walls lead to the entrance. The walls curve from the ground and 
straighten upon ascending. An entrance portico with a flared gable roof on small 
braced hammer beams abuts the building rhyming the roofline above it. The portico 
displays th~ simple bargeboard with sawtopth shingle mold. A Greek cross crowns the 
portico. Twin lancet windows accent the gable above the portico. Double-leaf doors 
composed of square and trapezoidal p~nels lead to the sanctuary through a pointed arch 
doorway. 

A two-tiered belltower stands at the northwest corner of the church. A hipped pent on 
small pendented brackets separates the lower and upper tiers. The upper belltower has 
'a wide overhanging eave also supported by brackets.· Rectangular louvers are located 
on each side of the upper. tier directly above pointed arch windows in the lower tier. 
A slender steeple and cross rise above the pyrimidal splay of the belltower roof. 

I 

The south entrance to the church is similar to the main.entrance with ~ts gabled portico 
and stone steps. Like the main entrance, the side portico displays a simple bargeboard 
with sawtooth shingle edging. A board and batten tymanum beneath the gabled roof is 
cut out to form a lower pointed entrance arch. A small cross crowns the roof peak. The 
church is entered through a pointed arch doorway by double-leaf doors. 
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Constructed in 1968, the vestry is attached to the church on the northeast corner. The 
addition is stylistically imitative of the original structure. It is sheathed with board 
and batten siding. The overhanging eaves exhibit barge.boards wi th sawtooth decoration. 
The vestry also contains small windows with pointed arches and double arched windows 
centered beneath the gable peak on its north side. 

The interior of the church follows a center aisle plan with the main entrance leading 
to the center aisle. The south side entrance connects with a small aisle which leads 
to the main passageway. 

The interior of the church is sheathed v.rith typical late nineteenth-century "bead board," 
here set vertically to reinforce the Gothic theme. The roof df the church is supported 
on the interior by a massive exposed truss system featuring chamfered cross beams. The 
beams are begged to chamfered pilasters. Flat curved brackets act as capitals for the 
pilasters. 

The original wooden pews of the church remain intact. The pews are attached directly to 
the walls. The pews are of oak with vertical board backs. The sides of the pews are 
slightly curved and feature a carved trefoil at each aisle end. The massiveness of the 
wood adds a note of solidity to the church. 

The central altar of the church was carved by the Reverand McCullough, who organized the 
construction of the church. The al~ar is centered be~eath three splendid st~ined glass 
lancet windows on the east end. Applied sawnwork decoration consisting of arches with' 
decorative spandrel-like elements and geometric tracery beneath denticulation carries 
from the altar across the front of the church. A front altar rail is supported by posts 
and decorated with brackets. The interior of the church retains the elegant and precise 
craftsmanship with which it was origin.ally fashioned. 

From the sanctuary the vestry is entered through an arched door on the north side towards 
the east end of the church. The vestry has two rooms which have wide vertical paneling. 

Ov~rall the Church of the Transfiguration is a fine late nineteenth-century example of the 
Carpenter Gothic style utilized in a.western North Carolina mountain resort town. Both 
the inte~ior and the exterior of the building remain almost, entirely intact. The 1968 
vestry addition blends well with original structure. 
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The Church of the Transfiguration is a small Carpenter Gothic chapel located in the 
Polk County town of Saluda, on the eastern edge of the Blue Ridge Mountains. This 
Episcopal church was finished in 1889 and formally consecrated in 1891. It was built 
originally to service the many people of Episcopal faith, most of them from South 
Carolina, who visited the Saluda area in the summer. One of these visitors was the 
Reverend John Dewitt McCullough, long time rector of the Church of the Advent in nearby 
Spartanburg, South Carolina. The Reverend Mr. McCullough designed and planned the 
building, .raised money for its construction, and actually helped build a large portion 
of the church, with help from his sons, townspeople, and theological students from 
Sewanee Seminary. The small frame building features an exterior sheathed in board 
and batten siding, a handsome two-tiered belltower, stained glass in pointed arch 
and lancet windows, and a richly wooded interior displaying original furnishings 
carved by Reve~end McCullough. A small vestry added in 1968 blends well with the origina~ 
arcmtecture. The church presently has 40 year round communicants and is served by the 
Reverend Tracy H. Lamar, Jr. 

CRITERIA ASSESSMENT 

A. The Church of the Transfiguration is a product of western North Carolina's nineteenth 
century role as summer retreat for the wealthier, largely Episcopalian, population of 
South Carolina. 

" 

B.' The small chapel is a well-crafted example of Carpenter Gothic ecclesiastical archi­
tecture, rare for western North Carolina. 
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The Church of the Transfiguration is an Episcopal church in the Polk County town of 
Saluda. The church was constructed during the l880s and was formally consecrated in 1891. 
For much of its history it has served largely visitors to ,the resort areas in and around 
Saluda. 

Saluda is located on the eastern edge of the Blue ,Ridge mountains. For much of the 
nineteenth century this area of North Carolina was popular with summer visitors from South 
Carolina. When the railroad from Spartanburg to Hendersonville came through western Polk 
County in 1878 the popularity of the area ipcreased. Saluda grew up around the train depot 
and was chartered in 1881. Located on seven hills,' at an altitude of 2,100 feet, the town 
became "well known for its invigorating climate."l 

One of the visitors to Saluda was the Reverend Mr. John DeWitt McCullough (1822-1902), 
rector of-the Church of the Advent in Spartanburg from 1848 to 1875. McCullough built a 
summer home in the area, as did William B. Howe, Bishop of the biocese of South Carolina. 
A number of other Episcopal communicants either owned summer homes in Saluda or were 
regular visitors. Sometime in the l880s these men decided to build a summer chapel. 2 

In 1886 Frank Thompson donated a one-half acre plot of land in the center of town to 
McCullough and three other trustees of the church for the "purpose of building a Protes­
tant Episcopal Church bui1ding."3 

The Reverend Mr. McCullough designe9 and helped build churches in several South 
Carolina towns including Union, Glenn Springs, Gaffney, and Spartanburg. He was respon­
sible for designing and building much of the Church of the Transfiguration. He was 
assisted in this venture by his sons, friends, and theological students from Sewanee 
Seminary. McCullough carved the altar himself.' Also he was responsible for raising 
most of the money used in building the church. 4 

The church was completed sometime in 1889. Two years later it was consecrated by 
Theodore Lyman, Bishop of the Diocese of North Carolina, who wrote: 

Monday, August 31, I went to Saluda which is quite a summer resort, 
near the sunnnit of the Blue Ridge, and which is frequented largely 
by families from South Carolina. The Bishop of that Diocese has a 
summer residence there, and Rev. Dr. McCullough has also made that 
place his summer home for many years past. Chiefly through the active 
agency of Dr. McCullough, a very neat Chapel has been built at Saluda 
and as that place is in our DiGcese, I was cordially invited to take 
th~ building under my spiritual jurisdiction, and consecrate it. 5 

The Reverend Mr. William Stanley Barrows was the first permanent rector of the 
c,hurch after its consecration. He reported to th~ 1,892 Dioc~~an convention that: 

This beautiful 1 i t tIe church . . . is virtually a gift from the Diocese 
of South Carolina to that of North Carolina .... The materials were 
provided by the summer residents and the work'was mainly done by the 
Reverend John D. McCullough and his sons. The a1~ar and chancel' furni­
ture were all made by Dean McCullough with his own hands. 6 

r \ 
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Throughout the l890s the Church of the Transfiguration held services during the 
months of May through September. Visiting ministers usually performed the services. 
In 1893 the "Clergy House Association" was chartered. This organization established 
a home in Saluda to house the visiting clergyman, most 0'£ whom were still from South 
Carolina. 7 

In the early part of the twentieth century Saluda began to acquire enough permanent 
Episcopalians to justify keeping the church open for a period longer than just the summer. 
A library and a mission school were constructed around 1908, largely under the auspices 
of Saluda physician Dr. Edward Goeltet and his sister Deaconess Julia Goelet. The church 
was still rarely able to keep a full-time rector for any length of time and visiting 
ministers' continued to hold many of the services. 8 

In 1928 the Reverend Herbert Cary Elwes became the church's full-time rector. He 
continued in this capacity until 1939. His relatively long tenure gave the church much 
needed stability and helped it survive the years of the Second World War. The Reverend 
Elwes returned to Saluda in 1949 and was rector of the church until his retirement in 
1955. 9 It was during his tenure in the 1930s that the Church of the Transfiguration 
reached its peak membership. 

Since his departure the church has had a number of ministers including present, rector 
Tracy H. Lamar, Jr., who had been at Saluda since 1980. The Church of the Transfiguration 
has 40 year round communicants, although summer services are frequently attended by 100 
or more worshipers. The church is a self supporting Organized Mission in the Diocese ot' 
Western North Carolina.10 

.' 
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NOTES 

lSadie Smathers Patton, Sketches of Polk County (Asheville: Milton Printing Company, 
1950), 67-70, hereinafter cited as Patton, Sketches of Polk County. 

2 James B .. Sill, Historical Sketches of Churches in the Diocese of Western North 
Carolina (Asbeviile: Publishing Office of ~he Church of the Redeemer, 1955), 128-129, 
hereinafter cited as Sill, Historical Sketches; We'stern Carolina Tribune (Henderson­
ville), March 8, 19.68; November 1, 1968. 

3 Polk County Deed Book 7, p. 497. The other trustees were Frank Frost, Peter Shand, 
and J. M. Gibbes. They were charged a nominal one dollar fee for the land. 

4Sill, Historical Sketches, 128-129; Tryon Daily Bulletin, December 22, 1976; 
Western Carolina Tribune (Hendersonville), November 1, 1968. 

5Journal of the Protestant Episcopal Church in the Diocese of North Carolina 
(Raleigh: Greensboro and other cities: various publishers, published annually 
from 1817 to the' present), 1892, p. 57, qereinafter cited as Episcopal Journal, wit~ 
appropriate year. Although Bishop Lyman wrote that he consecrated the church on 
August 31, September 1, appears to be the correct date. 

6Episcopal Journal, 1892, p. 1.25. At the time of'its consecration the Church of 
the Transfiguration had seven communicants. The church building was valued at'$1,500. 

7 ' 
Patton, Sketches of Polk County, 67-70. 

8Sill , Historical Sketches, 130; Western Carolina Tribune (Hendersonville), 
March 8, 1968. 

9 Tryon Daily Bulletin, December 22, 1976; Western Carolina Tribune (Hendersonville), 
November 1, 1968. .' 

10 
Telephone interview with Rev. Tracy H. Lamar, Jr., May 21, 1982, notes 1n file. 
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